Brief of Appellant Filed 06-02-2020 Page 1 of 17

RECEIVED 06-02-2020 CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Appellate Case No. 2020AP491

In the Matter of the Refusal of Kelly L. Springer:

WASHINGTON COUNTY,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-VS-

KELLY L. SPRINGER,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER OF JUDGMENT ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WASHINGTON COUNTY, BRANCH II, THE HONORABLE JAMES K. MUEHLBAUER PRESIDING, TRIAL COURT CASE NO. 20-TR-439

BRIEF & APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

MELOWSKI & ASSOCIATES, LLC

Matthew M. Murray State Bar No. 1070827

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. WHETHER MR. SPRINGER WAS ALLOWED SUFFICIENT TIME TO MAKE A "PROMPT" DECISION TO SUBMIT TO OR REFUSE AN IMPLIED CONSENT TEST?

<u>Trial Court Answered</u>: YES. A sufficient "pause" existed in between the arresting deputy's asking Mr. Springer to submit to an implied consent test and Mr. Springer's failure to respond in the affirmative. R23 at 29:1-12; D-App. at 106.

II. WHETHER MR. SPRINGER HAD THE RIGHT TO HAVE HIS SUBJECTIVE CONFUSION ABOUT WHETHER HE ALREADY HAD SUBMITTED TO AN EVIDENTIARY CHEMICAL TEST CURED BY THE ARRESTING OFFICER?

<u>Trial Court Answered</u>: NO. The arresting officer was under no obligation to explain to Mr. Springer that he was confused about whether the preliminary breath test counted as an implied consent evidentiary chemical test. R23 at 28:12-20; D-App. at 105.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The Defendant-Appellant will NOT REQUEST oral argument as this appeal presents questions regarding the interpretation of already established law. The issues presented herein are of a nature that can be addressed by the application of long-standing legal principles the type of which would not be enhanced by oral argument.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The Defendant-Appellant will NOT REQUEST publication of this Court's decision as the law at issue herein is fully developed, and therefore, publication would do little, if anything, to enhance the relevant body of law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Springer was charged in Washington County with both Operating a Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence of an Intoxicant, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a), and Unlawfully Refusing to Submit to an Implied Consent Test, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 343.305(9)(a), arising out of an incident which occurred on January 30, 2020. R23 at 4:5-7; 12:5-9; 15:5-25.

Mr. Springer subsequently filed a request for a refusal hearing. R4. A hearing on the lawfulness of Mr. Springer's refusal was held on March 2, 2020, before the Circuit Court for Washington County, the Honorable James K. Muehlbauer presiding. R23.

Deputy Thomas Boisvert, the arresting officer in the instant matter, was the single witness called to testify on behalf of the County. R23 at pp. 3-21. At the conclusion of the evidentiary portion of the hearing, counsel for Mr. Springer made several legal arguments, including, *inter alia*: (1) the arresting officer failed to provide an adequate opportunity for Mr. Springer to render his decision on whether to submit to an implied consent test; and (2) Mr. Springer should have been informed by the arresting officer that his belief that he had already submitted to an implied consent test by providing a breath sample at roadside during preliminary breath testing was erroneous. R23 at 23:1 to 26:8.

The circuit court rejected both of Mr. Springer's arguments, and by Conviction Status Report dated March 3, 2020, ordered Mr. Springer's operating privilege revoked for a period of one (1) year. R9; D-App. at 102.

Case 2020AP000491 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-02-2020 Page 7 of 17

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 30, 2020, the above-named Appellant, Kelly Springer, was operating his motor vehicle in Washington County, when Deputy Thomas Boisvert of the Washington County Sheriff's Office observed Mr. Springer make multiple lane deviations on US 45 without signaling. R23 at 4:10-25; 5:1-22. Deputy Boisvert caught up to Mr. Springer's vehicle and initiated a traffic stop. R23 at 5:18-22.

After making contact with Mr. Springer, Deputy Boisvert ostensibly observed that he had difficulty finding his proof of insurance, and when asked whether he had consumed any intoxicants, stated that he had "several beers or a couple beers." R23 at 7:23 to 8:6. Based upon this information, Deputy Boisvert asked Mr. Springer to perform field sobriety tests, to which request Mr. Springer consented. R23 at 8:20-24. Mr. Springer allegedly failed the standardized battery of field sobriety tests. R23 at 8:25 to 11:4.

Upon completing the field sobriety tests, Deputy Boisvert administered a preliminary breath test [hereinafter "PBT"] to Mr. Springer which yielded a result above the prohibited limit. R23 at 11:5-19. After the PBT, Deputy Boisvert placed Mr. Springer under arrest for Operating a Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence of an Intoxicant, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a). R23 at 12:18-23.

Once seated in the rear of the deputy's squad, Deputy Boisvert read the Informing the Accused form [hereinafter "ITAF"] to Mr. Springer and asked him whether he would be willing to submit to an evidentiary chemical test of his breath. R23 at 13:5 to 14:4. Mr. Springer initially remained silent in response to the deputy's question, and the deputy reread the question "about six times." R23 at 14:5-17. After re-reading the question to Mr. Springer for the sixth time, Mr. Springer replied "I've already given you a test." R23 at 15:3-4; 18:16-22. Whereupon, Deputy Boisvert, immediately and without further comment, marked Mr. Springer as having refused to submit to an implied consent test. R23 at 15:5-7; 19:1-4.

At the refusal hearing, Deputy Boisvert testified that in between each reading of the question, he allowed anywhere from five to ten seconds to pass before he read the question to Mr. Springer again for a total of "five or six more times" after the initial reading. R23 at 18:7-22. Given this testimony, this would equate to a total time of twenty-five seconds on the lower end of the range to sixty seconds on the high end of the range of time given that there was no additional waiting after the last reading of the question, but rather an immediate marking of Mr. Springer as having refused testing.¹

STANDARD OF REVIEW ON APPEAL

This appeal presents a question relating to the application of the implied consent law to an undisputed set of facts. As such, this Court reviews the matter as a question of law de novo. State v. Wilke, 152 Wis. 2d 243, 247, 448 N.W.2d 13 (Ct. App. 1989).

ARGUMENT

- I. DEPUTY BOISVERT FAILED TO PROVIDE MR. SPRINGER WITH AN ADEQUATE AMOUNT OF TIME TO MAKE A "PROMPT" DECISION ABOUT WHETHER TO SUBMIT TO AN IMPLIED CONSENT TEST.
 - \boldsymbol{A} . Statement of the Law As It Relates to a Subject Responding to a Request for an Implied Consent Test.

Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 343.305(2), a law enforcement officer who suspects an individual of operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated may request that the individual submit to a chemical test of their blood, breath, or urine under § 343.305(3)(a). This goal is accomplished vis a vis the reading of the "Informing the Accused" form to the suspect. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4); R7. At the end of the

¹The lower end is given by the elapsing of 5 seconds for 5 times after the initial reading, for a total 25 seconds; and the high end is given by the elapsing of 10 seconds for 6 times after the initial reading, for a total of 60 seconds.

ITAF, a question is asked of the suspect, "Will you submit to an evidentiary chemical test of your [breath, blood, or urine]," with the law enforcement officer designating which test it is that the law enforcement agency is seeking. *Id*.

It is incumbent upon the accused to "promptly" elect to submit, or to refuse to submit, to the requested test. *State v. Neitzel*, 95 Wis. 2d 191, 205, 289 N.W.2d 828 (1980); *State v. Rydeski*, 214 Wis. 2d 101, 109, 571 N.W.2d 417 (Ct. App. 1997). The implied consent law, however, does not require a verbal refusal to submit to testing. *Rydeski*, 214 Wis. 2d at 106-07. While it remains true that "[i]t is the reality of the situation that must govern, and a refusal in fact, regardless of the words that accompany it, can be as convincing as an express verbal refusal," including a suspect's remaining silent when asked to submit to an implied consent test, it is also true that no decision of any court of supervisory jurisdiction has defined what constitutes a "prompt" reply to the officer's request.

B. The Facts of the Instant Case Establish That Mr. Springer Was Not Given a Sufficient Amount of Time Within Which to Make an Election to Submit, or to Refuse to Submit, to Testing.

Mr. Springer acknowledges from the start that a person's silence, when asked to submit to a chemical test for intoxication, can certainly be construed as a *de facto* refusal to submit to an implied consent test. That issue is not, however, the issue Mr. Springer raises before this Court. Mr. Springer proffers that it is unreasonable to conclude that a person who is given only twenty-five seconds to respond to the request for testing has refused such testing if he has not delivered a response within that time.³ This is especially true in

²*Elkhart Lake v. Borzyskowski*, 123 Wis. 2d 185, 192, 366 N.W.2d 506 (Ct. App. 1985), quoting *Beck v. Cox*, 597 P.2d 1335, 1338 (Utah 1979).

³Given Deputy Boisvert's admission that it is possible he only asked Mr. Springer to submit to a test five times, and waited only five seconds in between each attempt, Mr. Springer will, throughout the remainder of his argument on this point, construe the facts in a light most favorable to him since there is a basis in the record to assume the same.

5

-

a circumstance in which the person who is being asked to submit to testing has more at stake than a "typical" suspect who, unlike Mr. Springer, is not a commercially licensed driver.⁴ Commercially licensed drivers are subject to more severe penalties, such as disqualification from operating a commercial motor vehicle, which affect their livelihoods and ability to maintain employment more acutely than the average person. *See*, *e.g.*, Wis. Stat. § 341.315(2).

Mr. Springer acknowledges that establishing a "bright-line" rule of any period of time, *e.g.*, thirty seconds, one minute, two minutes, *etc.*, is likely unworkable no matter how desirable. This is not to say, however, that there should not be a *minimum* period of time in which the person is permitted an opportunity to "think it over." This point is perhaps best made by hypothetical.

Assume, arguendo, that an officer reads the ITAF to a suspect, asks him to submit to a breath test, and when the individual does not respond within one second's time, considers him to have refused testing. It is highly unlikely that any fact finder acting reasonably would conclude that the failure to respond within one second constituted a refusal by silence. Extend this example to two seconds. Again, the conclusion would very likely be the same. Mr. Springer would even go as far as to postulate that three, four, five, on up to ten seconds would all remain unreasonable amounts of time within which a person facing a life-changing decision must answer whether he will submit to testing. Mr. Springer's hypothetical would similarly not change regardless of the number of times the officer could repeat the question in those periods. It is not the frequency of the "asking" that matters here. It is the period of time in which the intellect of the accused is afforded the opportunity to weigh the options regarding the consequences of submitting to an implied consent test versus those of refusing the same that matters.

It takes longer than one minute to carefully and fully read the ITAF to a suspect. *See* R7. It is Mr. Springer's position that asking a person to make a decision in less time than it takes to provide him

6

-

⁴Deputy Boisvert testified that he was unaware that Mr. Springer was commercially licensed. R23 at 20:23 to 21:5.

with all of the information regarding that decision is patently unfair and unreasonable. Perhaps the standard which this Court should consider is one in which both sides are treated equally. That is, a person who is asked to submit to an implied consent test should be afforded as long a time to make his decision regarding testing as it takes to relay the information to him. Page 11 of 17

Should this Court not elect to consider the foregoing a reasonable alternative, at least in the instant case Mr. Springer believes twenty-five seconds was too little time in which he could make a decision *regardless* of how many times the deputy could reinsert the question into his silence. It should be emphasized that the decisions a person is asked to make relating to providing the government with either chemical test evidence or proof of consciousness of guilt evidence in the form of a refusal would likely not be easy to make "promptly" even for individuals who are trained in the law if "promptly" means in less than twenty-five seconds. Some consideration must be given to the fact that the typical accused drunk driver is a lay person.

II. THE ARRESTING OFFICER IN THIS CASE SHOULD HAVE INFORMED MR. SPRINGER THAT THE PRELIMINARY BREATH TEST TO WHICH HE EARLIER SUBMITTED DID NOT COUNT AS AN IMPLIED CONSENT TEST.

Wisconsin Statute § 343.303 permits a law enforcement officer who has "probable cause" to believe that a person has committed a violation of § 346.63(1)(a) to request that the individual submit to a preliminary breath test [hereinafter "PBT"]. The result of this test is not admissible in court against the accused, unlike an implied consent test. *Cf.* Wis. Stat. § 343.303 *with* § 343.305(5)(d).

In the instant case, when Deputy Boisvert asked Mr. Springer to submit to an evidentiary chemical test of his breath, Mr. Springer

⁵This is not considered the traditional "probable cause" to arrest, but rather is a standard nestled above a reasonable suspicion and below probable cause to arrest. *County of Jefferson v. Renz*, 231 Wis. 2d 293, 317, 603 N.W.2d 541 (1999).

_

Case 2020AP000491 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-02-2020 Page 12 of 17

ultimately responded that he had already submitted to a test. R23 at 15:3-4; 18:19-22. Upon hearing this response, Deputy Boisvert immediately marked Mr. Springer as having refused the test without disabusing him of his erroneous notion that the roadside PBT counted as an implied consent test. R23 at 15:5-7; 19:1-4. It is Mr. Springer's contention that this failure on the part of Deputy Boisvert violates notions of fair play and fundamental fairness.

The concept of "fundamental fairness" is an outgrowth of the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment. *United States v. Williams*, 553 U.S. 285, 304 (2007). It is a concept that is driven by notions of fair play. *See, e.g., Connally v. General Construction Company*, 269 U.S. 385, 391 (1926). The Supreme Court has held that the Fourteenth Amendment is implicated in constitutional fair play and fundamental fairness as well. *See generally, Giaccio v. Pennsylvania*, 382 U.S. 399, 403 (1966).

Expounding upon these "notions of fair play," the United States Supreme Court has observed that "[a]ll are entitled to be informed as to what the State commands or forbids." *Lanzetta v. New Jersey*, 306 U.S. 451, 444 (1939). While it is true that the foregoing quote was made in a different factual context than that before this Court in the instant case—the *Lanzetta* Court was examining a penal statute—its underlying idea is no less applicable and should be carried forward into this case.

Being apprised of what the government commands *is* a function of due process. In *Cleveland Bd. of Educ. v. Loudermill*, 470 U.S. 532 (1985), the United States Supreme Court recognized that due process emanated from more than mere legislative enactments, rather, it grew out of constitutional fundament. The High Court described it thusly: "The right to due process 'is conferred not by legislative grace, but by constitutional guarantee." *Id.* at 541, quoting *Arnett v. Kennedy*, 416 U.S. 134, 167 (1974).

At its core, fundamental fairness is a constitutional doctrine which finds its purchase in the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. *Lassiter v. Dep't of Social Services*, 452 U.S. 18, 24 (1981). While the soil from which the concept of fundamental fairness grows is well tilled, the notion of

Case 2020AP000491 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-02-2020 Page 13 of 17

fundamental fairness itself is not given to a tight definition or rigid rule. The *Lassiter* Court has remarked upon the nebulous nature of fundamental fairness in this way:

For all its consequence, "due process" has never been, and perhaps can never be, precisely defined. "[Unlike] some legal rules," this Court has said, due process "is not a technical conception with a fixed content unrelated to time, place and circumstances." *Cafeteria Workers v. McElroy*, 367 U.S. 886, 895. Rather, the phrase expresses the requirement of "fundamental fairness," a requirement whose meaning can be as opaque as its importance is lofty. Applying the Due Process Clause is therefore an uncertain enterprise which must discover what "fundamental fairness" consists of in a particular situation by first considering any relevant precedents and then by assessing the several interests that are at stake.

Lassiter, 452 U.S. at 24-25. As the Supreme Court noted in *Matthews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319 (1976), due process, in the context of fundamental fairness, "is flexible and calls for such procedural protections as the particular situation demands." *Id.* at 334, quoting *Morrissey v. Brewer*, 408 U.S. 471, 481 (1972).

Thus stated, Mr. Springer proffers that his case is precisely about what is fundamentally fair and what ensures constitutional "fair play" under the facts of his case. While he acknowledges that the foregoing authority is not directly on point with his case because all of the aforementioned decisions arose out of different factual scenarios than his, it is also true that there is no case directly on point with his circumstances. As such, all that can be done is to draw from the fundament of this authority and extend the ideas which gird it to his case.

In doing so, Mr. Springer believes that it is fundamentally unfair and violates notions of fair play for a law enforcement officer to fail to inform a person who is acting under the false belief that a roadside PBT was an "implied consent test" that such is not the case. This is not a particular onerous or burdensome requirement. It requires but a few words—a few words which, importantly, could bring a person's misapprehended belief into check. All a law enforcement officer would need to do is inform the suspect that: "The roadside test is not admissible in court. I'm asking you for a different

Case 2020AP000491 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-02-2020 Page 14 of 17

test." Frankly, officers throughout Wisconsin already engage in this practice, and Mr. Springer can think of no reason why Deputy Boisvert should not also have done so. To permit accused citizens to act under an erroneous, but not illogical or unreasonable belief given what happens during the detention and arrest of a suspected drunk driver, smacks of unfairness and all the more so when one considers that it would take very little effort to remedy this problem.

Put in another context, adopting Mr. Springer's approach would *better serve* the government's interest in ending the scourge of the drunk driving epidemic in that it would likely cause more citizens to submit to testing than to refuse it if they knew that the PBT was not an implied consent test. Simply explaining that the PBT was not admissible in court would cause many individuals to reconsider taking the evidentiary test because they would no longer be acting under the belief that they were not refusing testing by already having submitted at roadside. In this fashion, the public policy underlying Wisconsin's impaired driving law would be promoted rather than hindered.

It is likely that the County will argue in its brief that an accused drunk driver may not argue that he was "subjectively confused" by the information he received so long as the arresting officer complies with the implied consent law by reading the ITAF verbatim. *See*, *e.g.*, *Village of Oregon v. Bryant*, 188 Wis. 2d 680, 693-94, 524 N.W.2d 635 (1994). While it is true that a defendant may not make a "subjective confusion" argument when the ITAF is read verbatim and the arresting officer does not try to add information to that which appears on the form, this argument misses Mr. Springer's point in this case.

Mr. Springer is not alleging that he was subjectively confused about the information which appears on the ITAF. Rather, he is arguing that he was confused about what constituted a "breath test" when he had already submitted to a PBT. The PBT is an artifact of a different statute apart from the implied consent statute which allows for an officer to gather evidentiary breath samples. Mr. Springer's confusion was over the *two breath tests—i.e.*, the one he submitted to at roadside and the one the deputy sought—and not over the information which appeared on the ITAF. Thus, any foray by the

Case 2020AP000491 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-02-2020 Page 15 of 17

County into the body of common law which prohibits "subjective confusion" arguments must fail because it misses the point of contention herein.

CONCLUSION

Because Mr. Springer was neither afforded sufficient time within which to make his decision to submit to an implied consent test and was not properly disabused of the notion that the roadside preliminary breath test to which he submitted counted as an "implied consent test," Mr. Springer respectfully requests that this Court reverse the lower court's finding regarding the propriety of his alleged refusal to submit to an implied consent test under Wis. Stat. § 343.305 and reinstate his operating privilege.