RECEIVED
07-30-2020
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2020AP491

In the matter of the refusal of Kelly L. Springer

WASHINGTON COUNTY.

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KELLY L. SPRINGER,

Defendant-Appellant

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT AND ORDER ENTERED IN WASHINGTON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JAMES K. MUEHLBAUER, PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

JEANETTE K. CORBETT Assistant District Attorney State Bar Number 1033978

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

Washington County District Attorney Post Office Box 1986 West Bend, WI 53095-7986 (262) 335-4311 (Phone) (262) 335-4739 (Fax) Jeanette.Corbett@da.wi.gov

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court Properly Found that the Deputy was not Required to Elicit a Verbal Response when Asking Springer if he Would Submit to an Evidentiary Chemical Test of his Breath.

A. Controlling Principles of the Implied Consent Law

The implied consent law provides that a person who operates a motor vehicle in this state is deemed to have given consent to one or more tests of his or her blood, breath, or urine upon the request of a law enforcement officer if the person is arrested for an OWI-related offense. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(2). This court has explained that:

> Under Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(a), a law enforcement officer may request that a person arrested for OWI provide one or more samples of the person's blood, breath, or urine for testing. A law enforcement officer must then read the implied consent warning to the person, explaining the nature of implied consent, warning of the consequences of refusal to submit to a test of the officer's choice, warning about the consequences of a prohibited alcohol concentration, and informing the person of his or her right to alternative request an Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4); State v. Piddington, 2001 WI 24, ¶1 n.3, 241 Wis. 2d 754, 623 N.W.2d 528.

State v. Krajewski, 2002 WI 97, ¶ 20, 255 Wis. 2d 98, 648 N.W.2d 385.

Under the implied consent law, "Wisconsin drivers are deemed to have given implied consent to chemical testing as a condition of receiving the operating privilege." State v. Reitter, 227 227 Wis. 2d

213, 225, 595 N.W.2d 646 (1999) citing Wis. Stat. § 343.305(2); *State v. Neitzel*, 95 Wis. 2d 191, 289 N. W.2d 828 (1980) at 193; *State v. Rydeski*, 214 Wis. 2d 101, 109, 571 N.W.2d 417 (Ct. App. 1997). Drivers accused of operating a vehicle while intoxicated therefore have no "right" to refuse a chemical test. *Id.* citing *State v. Crandall*, 133 Wis. 2d 251, 257, 394 N.W.2d 905 (1986).

"Any failure to submit" to a request for a sample "constitutes refusal and triggers the statutory penalties" for an improper refusal. *Reitter*, at, 234 (citing *State v. Rydeski*, 214 Wis. 2d 101, 106, 571 N.W.2d 417 (Ct. App. 1997)). And failing to cooperate with the testing procedure can be a refusal, *Village of Elkhart Lake v. Borzyskowski*, 123 Wis. 2d 185, 191, 366 N.W.2d 506 (Ct. App. 1985).

If the person withdraws consent, and refuses to give a sample of his or breath, blood, or urine, as requested by the law enforcement officer, the law enforcement officer then issues a notice of intent to revoke the person's operating privilege. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(9)(a). The notice of intent to revoke informs the person that he or she has been placed under arrest for an OWI-related offense, that the officer read the informing the accused language to the person, that the person refused a request for a sample of breath, blood, or urine, and that the person has ten days to request a hearing, or will have his or her operating privilege will be revoked. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(9)(a)1.-4.

The notice of intent to revoke also informs the person that the issues at a refusal hearing are limited by statute. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(9)(a)5. The implied consent statute, Wis. Stat. § 343.305, provides that the issues in a hearing for a person who refuses to a request to submit to chemical testing are strictly limited to: (a) whether the officer had probable cause to believe the person was driving or operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of alcohol, and whether the person was lawfully placed under arrest for an OWI-related offense; (b) whether the officer complied with the information requirements in the statute; and (c) whether the person refused to submit to the test, whether the refusal was due to a physical inability

to submit to the test due to a physical disability or disease. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(9)(a)5.

At the close of the hearing, or within five days, the municipal court or circuit court that held the refusal hearing determines the issues listed in § 343.305(9)(a)5. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(9)(d). If each issue is decided adversely to the person, the court is required to revoke the person's operating privilege. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(9)(d), 10. If the court decides one or more issues favorably to the person, the court "shall order that no action be taken on the operating privilege on account of the person's refusal to take the test in question." Washburn County v. Smith, 2008 WI 23, ¶ 2, 308 Wis. 2d 65, 746 N.W.2d 243 n.3, citing Wis. Stat. § 343.305(9)(d).

B. The Law Does Not Require an Officer to Wait a Specified Amount of Time for a Verbal Answer to the Form's Question.

The State is in full agreement with Springer's admission that the case law clearly states, "the obligation of the accused is to take the test promptly or to refuse it promptly." Neitzel at 205, 835. Furthermore, the Court in Neitzel found that "there is no obligation upon the law enforcement authorities to renew the offer to take the test, even though the time within which the test may be admissible the two-hour period after the arrest has not yet expired. The obligation of the accused is to take the test promptly or to refuse it promptly. If he refuses, the consequences flow from the implied consent statute." *Id.*

"Section 343.305(1) STATS., provides that anyone who drives a motor vehicle is deemed to have consented to a properly administered test to determine the driver's blood alcohol content. Village of Elkhart Lake v. Borzyskowski, 123 Wis. 2d 185, 191 366 N.W.2d 506 509 (Ct. App. 1985). Any failure to submit to such a test, other than because of physical inability, is an improper refusal which involves the penalties of the statute. Id." State v. Rydeski, 214 Wis. 2d 101, 109, 571 N.W.2d 417 (Ct. App. 1997). Additionally, the court in *Rydeski* found that "a

verbal refusal is not required. The conduct of the accused may serve as the basis for a refusal." *Id*.

The facts of Rydeski are similar in nature to the facts in the case at hand. Rydeski initially consented to a breath test however once he was asked to actually submit to the test he insisted on using the restroom alone. *Id.* As in our case, the testing officer asked Rydeski five or more times to submit to the test after which he marked the test as a refusal. Id. The court in that case held that "Rydeski's conduct prevented [the officer] from administering the test, and therefore, we conclude that Rydeski refused to submit to the test." Id at 107, 419. Rydeski's argument was similar to Springer's in that he suggested that courts should look at the totality of circumstances when determining if a refusal occurred. Id. The court disagreed with that argument and instead ruled that "a person's refusal is thus conclusive and is not dependent upon such factors as whether the accused recants within a 'reasonable time'.." Id. at 420. The court emphasized that not only must a person promptly submit or refuse to submit to the test, but that "the officer may 'immediately' gain possession of the accused's license and fill out the Notice of Intent to Revoke form." Id. reiterated the term "immediately" several times emphasizing the lack of a requirement to wait a specified amount of time prior to considering the accused to have refused the test. Id.

II. The Circuit Court Properly Found that the Deputy was not Required to Cure Springer's Subjective Confusion.

Even though Springer never asked any questions of the officer regarding the form and never made any indication that he was confused about the form or the requested tests, he now asserts that he was in fact confused and that the deputy was required to cure that confusion. Springer argues that the arresting officer should have informed him that the Preliminary Breath Test did not "count as an implied consent test". Brief of Defendant-Appellant p. 7. Springer attempts to convolute the issue by admitting, "it is true that a defendant may not make a subjection confusion" argument when the Informing the Accused Form is read verbatim and the arresting officer does not try to add information

to that which appears on the form..." *Id.* at p. 10. Springer then goes on to argue that he was not subjectively confused, but rather was confused about what constituted a breath test. *Id.* There is zero difference between the two arguments. Springer is still arguing that he was confused about the form and that the officer had a duty to explain the form to him – essentially curing his subjective confusion.

A. The Form Itself Specifically informs the Accused that the Law Enforcement Agency would be Testing *One or More* Samples of Accused's Breath.

Wisconsin Statute section 343.305 (3) specifically states, (a) upon arrest of a person for violation of s. 346.63(1)(2m) or (5) or a local ordinance in conformity therewith, or for a violation of s. 346.63(2) or (6) or 940.25, or s. 940.09 where the offense involved the use of a vehicle, or upon arrest subsequent to a refusal under par. (ar), a law enforcement officer may request the person to provide one or more samples of his or her breath, blood or urine for the purpose specified under sub. (2). The Wisconsin Department of Transportation Informing the Accused form, mirrors the language in this statute in paragraph two which states, "This law enforcement agency now wants to test one or more samples of your breath, blood or urine to determine the concentration of alcohol or drugs in your system." Informing the Accused. Additionally, in paragraph three of the form it further clarifies that there may be more than a single test when it states, "If you take all the requests tests, you may choose to take further tests." *Id.* This is the form that was read to Springer by Deputy Boisvert and therefore, Springer was clearly put on notice that the agency would be testing "one or more" samples and therefore, the fact that a Preliminary Breath Test was already conducted is irrelevant to the analysis.

The parties agree that a Preliminary Breath test is not the same as the evidentiary chemical breath test. Wisconsin Statutes section 343.303 describes the Preliminary Breath test and specifically differentiates it from the chemical breath test by clarifying, "The result of this preliminary breath screening test may be used by the law

enforcement officer for the purpose of deciding whether or not the person shall be arrested for a violation of x. 346.63(1), (2m), (5) or (7) or a local ordinance in conformity therewith, or s. 346.63(2) or (6), 940.09(1) or 940.25 and whether or not to require or request chemical tests as authorized under s. 343.305(3)." (emphasis added).

B. There is no Right to an Explanation of the Law or the Form

Page 16 of 19

There is no case law that Springer can point to which indicates, in any way, that the accused has the right to have the legal difference between the Preliminary Breath Test and the evidentiary chemical breath test explained. The cases cited by Springer are so completely different than the case at hand that they provide no guidance to this Court whatsoever. To the contrary, courts have consistently found that the officer should not provide any legal advice or explanation of the Informing the Accused Form. Courts have found there to be a "stringent three part standard that is applied to assess the adequacy of the warning process under the implied consent law:

...a stringent three-part standard that is applied to assess the adequacy of warning process under the implied consent law: (1) Has the law enforcement officer not met, or exceeded his or her duty under § 343.305(4) and 343.305(4m) to provide information to the accused driver; (2) Is the lack or oversupply of information misleading; and (3) Has the failure to properly inform the driver affected his or her ability to make the choice about chemical testing?

County of Ozaukee v. Quelle, 198 Wis. 2d 269, 280, 542 N.W.2d 196, 200 (Ct. App. 1995), abrogated on other grounds by In re Smith, 2008 WI 23, 308 Wis. 2d 65, 746 N.W.2d 243.

Quelle argued that her subjective confusion about a second test should have been cured by the arresting officer. *Id.* at 284, 202. The court declined to accept Quelle's argument that officers have a duty to explain, rather than simply to read the Informing the Accused Form. The court in that case held that they would not create a new defense of subjective confusion and reiterated that Wisconsin Courts have "... have repeatedly stated, an officer's only duty under the implied consent law is to accurately deliver the information to the driver; an officer need not explain all of the choices (and resulting consequences) embodied within these statutes." *Id.*

CONCLUSION

For all of the reasons stated above, the State respectfully requests that this Court affirm the finding of the circuit court that Springer's refusal to submit to a chemical test of his breath was improper.